ORIGINAL

SUPREMECOURT STATE OF FLORIDA TALLAHASSEE, FLORIDA

ť

APR 1 0 2000 CLERK, SUPREME COURT BY_____

Supreme Court Case No. SC96796 Second DCA Case No. 97-02462 Lower Court Case No.: 96-5826-CI-11

UNITED SERVICES AUTOMOBILE ASSOCIATION

Petitioner

V.

JOHN G. PHILLIPS, individually and as Personal Representative of the Estate of WANDA PHILLIPS, Deceased

Respondent.

ON PETITION FOR DISCRETIONARY REVIEW FROM THE SECOND DISTRICT COURT OF APPEAL

AMENDED JURISDICTIONAL BRIEF OF PETITIONER

STATEMENT OF THE FACTS

On June 30, 1996, a Pinellas Suncoast Transit Authority ("PSTA") bus collided with pedestrian, Wanda Phillips, resulting in her death. [A-I]. PSTA is a governmental entity and the bus involved in the accident was owned by PSTA. [A-1]. At the time of the accident, PSTA had an excess liability policy issued through the Florida League of Cities. [A-I]. The excess policy provided \$2 million in coverage for claims exceeding PSTA's retained limit of \$100,000. [A-I]. The excess endorsement provided, in pertinent part, that benefits were due under the policy "solely for any liability resulting from entry of a claims bill pursuant to [s]ection 768.28(5), Florida Statutes." [A-1]. For claims within the retained limit, PSTA had a risk management program that administered the claims, projected future losses and established reserves. [A-1]. PSTA, however, did not have a certificate of self-insurance from the Bureau of Financial Responsibility. [A-1].

PSTA offered to settle the claim with Wanda Phillips' son, John Phillips, for the retained limit of \$100,000. [A-1]. Phillips, upon receipt of the offer, notified his uninsured motorist carrier, USAA. USAA provided uninsured motorist coverage in the amount of \$100,000 per person/\$300,000 per occurrence. [A-1]. USAA denied coverage based on the following provisions:

"Uninsured motor vehicle does not include any vehicle or equipment:

- (2) owned or operated by a self-insurer under any applicable motor vehicle law;
- (3) owned by any governmental unit or agency." [A-1]

The claim was settled and a Release was executed extinguishing the liability of PSTA, its bus driver, and PSTA's liability insurer, Florida League of Cities. [A-l].

Phillips then instituted an action against USAA seeking UM benefits under the policy. [A-1]. The trial court, relying on the Second District's decision in *Johns v*. *Liberty Mutual Ins*. Co., entered a Final Declaratory Judgment in favor of Phillips. The Final Declaratory Judgment ruled that the government vehicle exclusion was unenforceable under Florida law and PSTA was not self-insured. [A-1]. The trial court, however, granted USAA Partial Summary Judgment finding that UM coverage was not available to Phillips until his damages exceeded \$2.1 million, the amount of PSTA's self-retained limit and excess liability coverage. [A-1] The Second District affirmed the trial court's Final Declaratory Judgment and reversed the ruling that Phillips was not entitled to benefits from USAA until his damages exceeded \$2.1 million. [A-1] USAA's Motion for Rehearing and Motion for Certification were denied.

SUMMARYOFARGUMENT

This Court should accept jurisdiction of this case notwithstanding its recent decision in *Young v. Progressive Southeastern* Ins. Co., 25 Fla. L. Weekly S 12 1 (Fla., February 10, 2000), holding that a self insured exclusion in a UM policy is unenforceable in Florida. Issues of great public importance remain regarding the enforceability of the governmental vehicle exclusion and the availability of the excess coverage.

2

This Court has held that the UM exclusions are to read in *pari materia* with Florida's Responsibility Laws. Therefore, since government vehicles do not have to comply with Florida's Financial Responsibility laws the exclusion should be enforced. If the governmental vehicle exclusion is not upheld, the UM carrier will be effectively transformed into a liability carrier since a UM carrier has no subrogation right against a government entity or its employee due to sovereign immunity. This would be in direct contravention of this Court's acknowledgment that an integral part of Florida's UM statute is the UM carrier's right of subrogation.

In further contravention of the UM statute, the *Phillips* decision holds that a \$2 million excess policy is not "available" coverage under the UM statute. Therefore, the UM coverage must be paid without regard to the excess policy. In essence, the *Phillips* decision has obligated UM carriers to provide coverage where none should be paid at all.

By accepting jurisdiction, this Court will have the opportunity to create uniformity among the courts and resolve issues which have never before been addressed by this Court. In 1997 alone, there were approximately 7000 Florida motor vehicles accidents potentially involving government vehicles. [A2]. Therefore, the issues presented are of great public importance due to its significant impact upon motorists, municipalities and insurers throughout the State of Florida.

ARGUMENT

3

I. The *Phillips* decision expressly and directly conflicts with this Court's decision in *Carguillo v. State Farm Mut. Auto* Ins. Co., 529 So.2d 276 (Fla. 1988).

This issue of whether a government vehicle exclusion in a UM policy is legally permissible under Florida law has never been addressed by the Florida Supreme Court. The court recently determined in *Young v. Progressive Southeastern Ins. Co.*, 25 Fla. L. Weekly S 12 1 ('February 10, 2000), that the self insured exclusion is legally impermissible under Florida law. This decision, however, should not be determinative of the enforceability of the government vehicle exclusion in uninsured motorist policies because the government vehicle exclusion is subject to separate policy considerations.

The Second District's decision which upholds its earlier decision in *Johns v*. *Liberty Mutual Ins.* Co., 337 So. 2d 830 (Fla. 2d DCA 1976), finding that the government vehicle exclusion is unenforceable creates express and direct conflict with this Court's decision in *Carguillo v. State Farm Mut. Auto Ins., 529 So.* 2d 276 (Fla. *1988). Johns* was decided when absolute sovereign immunity prevailed in the State of Florida and the court simply did not want an aggrieved person to be without compensation for the government's tortious conduct.' Therefore, since government

¹ The only statute in effect at the time of the *Johns* decision was § 455.06 Fla. Stat. The statute authorized governmental entities to purchase motor vehicle liability insurance. However, the government's liability was capped by the limits of insurance coverage, and if the governmental entity chose not to purchase coverage then the governmental entity retained absolute immunity from suit. See § 455.06, Fla. Stat. (1953) (emphasis added).

vehicles were exempt from compliance with Florida's Financial Responsibility laws, the court held that the exclusion of government owned vehicles in Florida's Financial Responsibility laws did not have to be read *inpari materia* with the UM statute.

Twelve years later, this Court in *Carguillo v. State Farm Mut. Auto Ins., 529* So. 2d 276 (Fla. 1988) disapproved of *Johns* and held that the Florida Financial Responsibility Law <u>must</u> be read *inpari materia* with the Uninsured Motorist Statute. *See also Mullis v. State Farm Mut. Auto Ins.* Co., 252 So.2d 229 (Fla. 1991) (UM coverage is statutorily intended to provide the reciprocal or mutual equivalent of automobile liability coverage); *Young v. Progressive Southeastern Ins.* Co., 25 Fla. L. Weekly S 12 1 (Fla., February 10, 2000)(Justice Wells, dissenting). Therefore, the *Carguillo* court held that a UM exclusion for an off road motorcycle is not void because a an off road motor vehicle is not subject to the financial responsibility law.

According to the Second District's decision in *Phillips*, the *Carguillo* holding only applies if the vehicle is "per se" excluded from the definition of motor vehicle as set forth in \$324.021, Fla. Stat.² This interpretation by the Second District limits the enforceability of uninsured motorist exclusions to off road vehicles that do not have to comply with Florida's Financial Responsibility Laws. However, there is

Section 324.021(1) defines motor vehicle as:
[e]very self-propelled vehicle which is designed and required to be licensed for use upon a highway . . .

simply no language in *Carguillo* which limits its holding to motor vehicles which are not designed for use on the public highways. ³

١

Importantly, if a government vehicle exclusion is found to be unenforceable, the UM carrier will have no right of subrogation. The Young court noted that the right of subrogation is an integral part of Florida's UM law. See Young, 25 Fla. L. Weekly at \$123, n.2; § 627.727(6)(a). The UM carrier can not pursue the government entity/tortfeasor because they have absolute immunity in excess of the \$100,000 statutory cap on damages and the employee/tortfeasor has absolute immunity for negligent conduct while acting within the course and scope of his employment. §768.28, Fla. Stat. (1995). Thus, if the government vehicle exclusion is unenforceable, the UM carrier will be transformed into a liability carrier in contravention of this Court's recognition that the right of subrogation is what distinguishes the UM carrier from a liability insurer. See Traveler's Ins. Co. v. Warren, 678 So. 2d 324 (Fla. 1996). Therefore, even if this Court upholds its decision in Young, the same result shouldnot follow when addressing the government vehicle exclusion.

³ While the PSTA bus is not "per se" excluded under \$324.021, Fla. Stat., it is excluded under subsection 324.05 1 which calls for the suspension of licenses and registrations of motor vehicles involved in accidents.

II. Phillips expressly and directly conflicts with the Third District's decision in *Gabriel v. Traveler's Indemnity Corp.*, 515 So. 2d 1322 (Fla. 3d DCA 1987) and the Florida Supreme Court decisions in *Hannah v. Newkirk*, 675 So. 2d 112 (Fla. 1996) and *Industrial Fire & Cas. Ins. Co. v. Kwechin*, 447 So. 2d 1337 (Fla. 1983).

In Petitioner's Jurisdictional Brief served on October 2 1, 1999, the Petitioner argued that the Second District's decision in *Phillips* expressly and directly conflicted with Gabriel v. Traveler's Indemnity Corp., 5 15 So.2d 1322 (Fla. 3rd DCA 1987), which held that a government entity could satisfy the definition of self-insured status without a certificate of self insurance and expressly and directly conflicted with Hannah v. Newkirk, 675 So. 2d 112 (Fla. 1996) and Industrial Fire & Casualty Co. v. Kwechin, 447 So. 2d 1337 (Fla. 1983) holding that a deductible could constitute self insurance. This Court's decision in Young v. Progressive Southeastern Ins. Co., 25 Fla. L. Weekly DS 12 1, holding that self insured exclusions in uninsured motorist policies are unenforceable in Florida, effectively moots USAA's argument. Even if PSTA is deemed self-insured, the self insured exclusion contained within USAA's policy is unenforceable. A motion for rehearing was filed in Young on February 25, 2000. If the motion for rehearing is granted and this Court reverses its ruling, USAA's argument will no longer be moot and USAA will request that this Court accept jurisdiction based on the arguments raised in USAA's initial jurisdictional brief.

III. The holding that Phillips' damages do not have to exceed \$2.1 million before being entitled to UM benefits expressly and directly conflicts with decisions in Florida holding that UM coverage is excess.

Section 627.727, Fla. Stat. (1995), specifically states that "the coverage described under this section shall be over and above, but shall not duplicate, the benefits available to an insured under any workers' compensation law, personal injury protection benefits, disability benefits law, or similar law." \$627.727, Fla. Stat. (1995) (emphasis added). Under this statute, courts have universally characterized UM coverage as "excess coverage". In keeping with this principle, liability benefits are "available" even if the insured does not recover the full amount of benefits under the liability policy. See U.S. Fidelity and Guaranty Co. v. Gordon, 359 So. 2d 480 (Fla. 1 st DCA 1978); Meadows v. Progressive Casualty Ins. Co., 601 So. 2d 1285 (Fla. 5th DCA 1992). Liability benefits are, however, not available if no coverage exists under the liability policy. See Allstate Ins. Co. v. Boynton, 486 So. 2d 552 (Fla. 1986)(where it was undisputed that the insured was not responsible for alleged negligence the liability policy was not available to the injured plaintiff).

In the present case, PSTA had in full force and effect a liability policy which provided 2 million dollars in coverage. Under the Court's decision in *Young*, PSTA cannot be "uninsured" because PSTA has a liability insurer. See *Young*, 25 Fla. L. Weekly at S 12 1 (the term uninsured can only be a motorist without a liability insurer). Therefore, PSTA can, at most, be deemed to be "underinsured". Underinsured status is only met if the liability carrier has provided limits of bodily injury liability for its insured which are less than the total damages. No Florida court, until *Phillips*, has ever allowed an underinsured tortfeasor, and its liability carrier, to escape the responsibility for wrongful conduct by mandating that the UM carrier pay benefits even though there is available liability coverage.

The Second District justifies its decision in *Phillips* by holding that the term "similar law" must be defined to mean that an "enforceable right to benefits arises upon an occurrence". However, Phillips right to collect benefits is not "unenforceable" merely because a legislative claims bill may be a prerequisite to recovery. All liability policies of insurance contain prerequisites and conditions precedent to recovery.

The Second District's decision requiring UM benefits to be paid notwithstanding available liability coverage which does not exceed the total damages is even more troubling when considering the fact that USAA has no right of subrogation. In essence, under *Phillips*, USAA <u>must</u> pay UM benefits notwithstanding available liability coverage <u>and</u> USAA has no right of subrogation. Mr. Phillips has undoubtedly suffered a tragic loss. However, UM coverage was never intended to operate as liability coverage nor was it intended to provide the potential for a windfall double recovery. The Second District's decision in *Phillips*, mandates such a result in direct contravention of the clear language of the UM statue, decisions of this Court and district courts of appeal.

CONCLUSION

The decision in *Phillips* is in express and direct conflict with decisions of this Court and various district courts of appeal throughout the State of Florida and involves questions of great public importance. Thus, the Petitioner, respectfully requests that this Honorable Court accept jurisdiction to review the *Phillips* decision and quash it.