# ORIGINAL

#### IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF FLORIDA

Case No. 96,796 DCA No. 97-02462 DEBBIE CAUSSEAUX

APR 2 0 2000

CLERK, SUPREME COURT

BY

DU

#### UNITED SERVICES AUTOMOBILE ASSOCIATION

Petitioner

VS.

JOHN G. PHILLIPS, individually and as Personal Representative of the Estate of WANDA PHILLIPS,

Deceased

Respondent.

ON PETITION FOR DISCRETIONARY REVIEW FROM THE SECOND DISTRICT COURT OF APPEAL

#### RESPONDENT'S AMENDED JURISDICTIONAL BRIEF

Roy L. Glass, Esquire
LAW OFFICES OF ROY L. GLASS, P.A.
5501 Central Avenue
St. Petersburg, FL 33710
(727) 384-8888
Attorney for Respondent
FBN: 210781

##

#### STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND FACTS

Since the only facts relevant to the jurisdictional decision to either accept or reject the Petition for Certiorari are those facts contained within the four corners of the decision allegedly in conflict, Reaves v. State, 485 So. 2d. 829, 830 (Fla. 1986), Respondent omits the same except as specifically noted. Fla.R.App.P. 9.210(c). A copy of the Second District Court of Appeal's decision in <u>United Services Automobile Association v. Phillips</u>, 740 So. 2d. 1205 (Fla. 2d DCA 1999) is included in the Appendix hereto (A.1-5).

A copy of the Mandate issued from the Second Court of Appeal on October 14, 1999 is also made part of the Appendix hereto (A.6).

John Phillips, the son of the deceased, Wanda Phillips, and the Personal Representative of her Estate, was insured under a USAA automobile insurance policy with uninsured motorist limits of \$100,000 per person/\$300,000 per occurrence. So was his mother. They are both Class I insureds (A. 2).

Petitioner's Motion for Certification on the same basis as its Jurisdictional Brief and its Motion for Rehearing were denied by Order of the Second District Court of Appeal on September 23, 1999 (A. 7)

#### SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

Where there is no announced rule of law which expressly and directly conflicts

with other appellate expressions of law and substantially different controlling facts exist, there simply is no constitutional basis for this Court to exercise its discretion to accept jurisdiction.

Government vehicle exclusions in UM policies have long held to be impermissible and unenforceable. Neither the legislature nor any Florida court has provided otherwise. Moreover, the majority of other jurisdictions that have considered this issue have determined that these political subdivision exclusions are void against public policy. Had the legislature desired to exclude government-owned vehicles from the UM statute, it could and would have done so.

As it concerns the "self-insured" exclusion, the <u>Phillips</u> decision can not be in conflict with <u>Gabriel v. Travelers Indemnity Company</u>, 515 So. 2d. 1322 (Fla. 3d DCA 1987) in that the stipulated undisputed facts in <u>Gabriel</u> establish that the City of Miami was self-insured whereas in <u>Phillips</u> the undisputed facts demonstrated that PSTA was not a self-insurer. Moreover, this Court in <u>Young v. Progressive Southeast Insurance Company</u>, 25 Fla. L. Weekly S121 (Fla. Feb. 10, 2000) expressly disapproved <u>Gabriel</u> and held such a self-insured motorist exclusion invalid.

In determining that PSTA's excess policy, contingent upon the successful passage of a claims bill, was not "available" for set-off against USAA's UM coverage, the court properly recognized that the theoretical, speculative, and conjectural

coverage which is to provide a less cumbersome method for an insured legally entitled to recover so that they may receive payment from their insurer as opposed the expense of a trial against the tortfeasor or pursuing what may prove to be a futile effort toward the successful passage of a claims bill.

Discretionary jurisdiction should, therefore, be declined.

#### **ARGUMENT**

I. The <u>Phillips</u> decision does not <u>expressly</u> and <u>directly conflict</u> with this Court's decision in <u>Carguillo v. State Farm Mutual Auto Insurance Company</u>, 529 So. 2d. 276 (Fla. 1988) in that a rule of law is not being applied to produce a different result in a case which involves substantially the same controlling facts as a prior case.

In its Amended Jurisdictional Brief, Petitioner recedes from its prior opening sentence suggesting that this "... is an issue of first impression for this Court" and now claims that the issue has never been addressed by this Court. If this Court did not address the issue in <u>Carguillo</u>, then there can not be an express and direct conflict with that case.<sup>1</sup>

¹This claim by USAA appears inaccurate in that the Florida Supreme Court in Mullis v. State Farm Mutual Automobile Insurance Company, 252 So. 2d. 229, 236 (Fla. 1971) seemingly cited with approval, a Federal Eighth Circuit case holding, invalid, a government-owned UM exclusion under Arkansas law. Accord Johns v. Liberty Mutual Fire Insurance Company, 337 So. 2d. 830 (Fla. 2d DCA 1976) cert. den. 348 So. 2d 949 (finding such a government vehicle exclusion legally impermissible under Florida law). Indeed, in Young, this Court seemingly cites with approval the Supreme Court of Maine's decision in Young v. Greater Portland

In <u>Phillips</u>, Wanda Phillips, a pedestrian, was struck and killed by a city bus owned and operated by Pinellas Suncoast Transit Authority on public streets of St. Petersburg, Pinellas County, Florida. In <u>Carguillo</u>, *supra*, the insured's son was killed when his off-road motorcycle collided with another off-road motorcycle in an open field. In <u>Carguillo</u>, 529 So. 2d. at 278, this Court stated:

We therefore hold that a vehicle designed primarily for off-road use can be excluded from uninsured motorist coverage because it is not a "motor vehicle" within the definition of the financial responsibility law.

In contrast, not direct conflict,<sup>2</sup> it is apparent that this Court's holding in Carguillo is predicated upon the fact that this particular incident did not involve highways or public roads of the state, so would not, therefore, be void for public policy reasons.

There has never been any issue whatsoever as to whether or not the Pinellas Suncoast Transit Authority bus is a "motor vehicle" for the purposes of uninsured motorist coverage. *Compare* Grant v. State Farm Fire and Casualty Company, 620 So. 2d. 778 (Fla. 4th DCA 1993), *affirmed*, 638 So. 2d. 936 (Fla. 1994) (determining that

Transit District, 535 A. 2d 417, 420 (Me. 1987) (striking a policy provision excluding vehicles owned by government entity).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup>"Direct" is defined as "immediate; proximate; by the shortest course; without circuity; operating by an immediate connection or relation, instead of operating through a medium; the opposite of *indirect*." Black's Law Dictionary, p 546 (4th ed. rev. 1968).

a motorcycle was a "motor vehicle" for purposes of other-owned-vehicle exclusions to uninsured motorist benefit coverage).<sup>3</sup> This Court in reaffirming the Mullis v. State Farm Mutual Automobile Insurance Company, 252 So. 2d. 229 (Fla. 1971) principals noted that "[u]ninsured motorist protection does not inure to a particular motor vehicle, but instead protects the named insured or insured members of his family ..." Government Employees Insurance Company v. Douglas, 654 So. 2d. 118, 120 (Fla. 1995). See also Bulone v. USAA, 660 So. 2d. 399, 404-405 (Fla. 2d DCA 1995).

USAA contends that if a government vehicle exclusion is found to be unenforceable, then a UM carrier will have no right of subrogation. It cites no authority for the proposition that simply because a governmental entity is involved the UM carrier forfeits the right of subrogation. As pointed out in the article by Lewis F. Collins, Jr. Are You "Legally Entitled to Recover" Underinsured Motorist Benefits? (A-8), the UM carrier maintains the right of subrogation because there is no absolute cap on damages. If there is no absolute cap for the sovereign, then there is nothing to preclude USAA from pursuing a subrogation claim in the form of a legislative claims

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup>"In contrast to the era of <u>Mullis</u>, an automobile now insured under the Florida no-fault policy is generally not a "motor vehicle" for purposes of financial responsibility (citation omitted)." <u>Martin v. St. Paul Fire and Marine Insurance Company</u>, 670 So. 2d. 997, 1001 (Fla. 2d DCA 1996) (noting also that the concept of Class I uninsured motorist coverage as "family coverage" remains viable) (Judge Altenbernd).

bill. Indeed, in footnote 5 of the Young decision, this Court stated

We disagree with the dissent's assessment that our decision today calls into question the uninsured motorist carrier's right to subrogation. The uninsured motorist carrier retains a right to subrogation against the self-insured tortfeasor, just as it would entertain a right of subrogation against an uninsured tortfeasor.

Since in Young, Progressive Southeastern Insurance Company retains its right of subrogation against the Hillsborough County Sheriff's Office, Respondent fails to understand why USAA would not maintain its subrogation rights against PSTA. *But*, in this case, the trial court and the Second District Court of Appeal determined that USAA had, after being notified of PSTA's offer, denied coverage and waived any objection to the settlement. <u>USAA v. Phillips</u>, 740 So. 2d. 1206 (Fla. 2d DCA 1999). So, USAA's right of subrogation is not even at issue here. Its argument is specious.

The Second District Court of Appeal noting "... an enormous difference between Carguillo and this case," ultimately held that there was no reason, in law or public policy, for permitting the exclusion of government-owned vehicles from uninsured motorist coverage (A. 5). That has been the state of the law on government-owned exclusions for over twenty-five (25) years.<sup>4</sup>

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4</sup>Indeed, Florida is among the majority of jurisdictions determining that political division uninsured motorist exclusions are, despite the waiver of sovereign immunity, void as against public policy. *See generally* Annot., 26 ALR 3d 883 Section 12.5 Insurance - "Uninsured" Motorist (Supp. 1996). Recent decisions, joining the majority of courts, in holding these "government vehicle" exclusions

II. Neither does <u>Phillips expressly</u> and <u>directly conflict</u> with <u>Gabriel v. Travelers Indemnity Company</u>, 515 So. 2d. 1322 (Fla. 3d DCA 1987) nor this Court's decisions in <u>Hannah v. Newkirk</u>, 675 So. 2d. 112 (Fla. 1996) and <u>Industrial Fire & Casualty Insurance Co. v. Kwechin</u>, 447 So. 2d. 1337 (Fla. 1983).

This Court, in <u>Young v. Progressive Southeastern Insurance Company</u>, 25 Fla. L. Weekly S120 (Fla. Feb. 10, 2000) expressly disapproved <u>Gabriel</u> and held that self-insured exclusions in uninsured motorist policies are unenforceable in Florida. USAA recognizes, as it must, that the <u>Young</u> decision is dispositive.

Should this Court grant the pending Motion for Rehearing and reverse its ruling then John G. Phillips will rely upon his initial Jurisdictional Brief establishing that there is neither an express nor direct conflict.

III. Because Respondent is legally entitled to recover from PSTA, and the PSTA's excess policy is payable only upon the successful passage of a claims bill, there is no express and direct conflict with the cited Florida decisions holding that UM coverage is excess.

Again, USAA claims it has no right of subrogation yet must pay UM benefits.

USAA's contention is fatally flawed for a number of reasons. First, as pointed out in argument under Point I, USAA waived its subrogation rights in this case.<sup>5</sup> Second,

unlawful restrictions on mandatory UM coverage include <u>Ronning v. Citizens</u> <u>Security Insurance Company</u>, 557 NW. 2d. 363 (Minn. App. 1996) and <u>Transportation Insurance Company v. Martinez</u>, 899 P. 2d. 194 (Ariz. App. 1995).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>5</sup>Abberton v. Colonial Penn Insurance Company, 421 So. 2d. 6 (Fla. 2d DCA 1982); Aristonico Infante v. Preferred Risk Mutual Insurance Company, 364 So. 2d

there is nothing precluding USAA from seeking subrogation in the form of a legislative claims bill. Third, USAA seemingly desires that this Court overlook that Phillips is "legally entitled to recover" against PSTA, so UM coverage is available. John G. Phillips is free and unshackled to pursue his UM coverage, first, without even making a claim or collecting anything from the at-fault tortfeasor. Eg. Jones v. Integral Insurance Company, 631 So. 2d. 1132 (Fla. 3d DCA 1994).

USAA's argument that the availability of its uninsured motorist coverage is first to be reduced by the amount of recovery from the tortfeasor has been uniformly rejected as necessarily rendering UM coverage illusory. Annot., 40 ALR 5th 603, Uninsured Motorist - Reduction (1996). For, only *liability payments* are to be off-set against *damages* rather than UM coverage under the current version of the UM statute. Travelers Insurance Company v. Warren, 678 So. 2d. 324, 327 (Fla. 1996) *Compare* Shelby Mutual Insurance Company of Shelby, Ohio v. Smith, 556 So. 2d. 393, 396 (Fla. 1990). USAA's contention is indistinguishable from the situation which existed before the 1989 amendment to Section 627.727, Fla. Stat., providing that there was simply no uninsured motorist vehicle upon which to predicate a claim for UM coverage if the tortfeasor's liability coverage exceeded the UM coverage.

<sup>874 (</sup>Fla. 3d DCA 1978); Quinn v. Amerisure Insurance Company, 568 So. 2d. 1277, 1278 (Fla. 4th DCA 1990); Great American Insurance Company v. Pappas, 345 So. 2d. 823 (Fla. 4th DCA 1977).

Again, it is undisputed that Mr. Phillips is "legally entitled to recover" from PSTA. Michigan Millers Mutual Insurance Company v. Bourke, 581 So. 2d. 1365 (Fla. 2d DCA 1991), approved 607 So. 2d. 418 (Fla. 1992). See also Louis F. Collins, Are You "Legally Entitled to Recover" Underinsured Motorist Benefits?, pps 40-46, Fla. Bar Journal, (July/August 1993) (A 8-12).

The Second District Court of Appeal properly recognized that "private relief acts are granted strictly as a matter of legislative grace. *See* Gamble v. Wells, 450 So. 2d. 850 (Fla. 1984)" (A. 8). Indeed, in its discretion, the legislature may decline to grant any relief whatsoever. Gerard v. Department of Transportation, 472 So. 2d. 1170, 1173 (Fla. 1985).6

The Second District Court of Appeal's determination of "availability" under Section 627.727(1), Fla. Stat., does not expressly or directly conflict with any of Florida decisions. Indeed, it is in consonance with established and developing law in this context. *See*, eg., Allstate Insurance Company v. Rudnick, 706 So. 2d. 389 (Fla. 4th DCA 1998); White v. Westlund, 624 So. 2d. 1148 (Fla. 4th DCA 1993; Hartford

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>6</sup>In <u>Bulone v. United Services Automobile Association</u>, 660 So. 2d. 399, 403 at fn 6 (Fla. 2d DCA 1995) Judge Altenbernd notes that the concept of uninsured motorist coverage has been expanded to include vehicles whose owners present particular collectibility problems (also of particular interest is an incisive analysis concerning UM intended coverage for elderly family members who no longer drive and rely on taxis and public transportation, and are injured either as a passenger or pedestrian.)

Accident and Indemnity Company v. Lackore, 408 So. 2d. 1040, 1042 (Fla. 1982). The only set-off permitted, then, is to prevent duplication of benefits. It makes sense that "available benefits" must mean that which is *actually* available to the insured and not benefits which may be only figuratively available on a contingent or speculative basis. *See* State Farm Mutual Automobile Insurance Company v. Diem, 358 So. 2d. 39, 41 (Fla. 3d DCA 1978); United Services Automobile Association v. Strasser, 530 So. 2d. 1026 (Fla. 4th DCA 1988) (USAA to provide full UM benefits of \$200,000 with no set-off for tortfeasor's \$65,000 bodily injury liability limits).

In conclusion, Point III is entirely without any merit whatsoever as establishing an express and direct conflict.

#### CONCLUSION

USAA's Amended Jurisdictional Brief in light of this Court's decision in <u>Young</u> v. <u>Progressive Southeastern Insurance Company</u>, 25 Fla. L. Weekly S120 (Fla. Feb. 10, 2000) fails to establish that the <u>Phillips</u> decision is in express and direct conflict with any Florida decisions. This Court should, therefore, decline the acceptance of discretionary jurisdiction and remand this case for further proceedings in the trial court.